IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE APR 29 1997

のイン

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ANDREW J. MORRIS,

Petitioner,

)

)

Fifth District Court of Appeal No.: 95-1230

STATE OF FLORIDA,

vs.

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

M.A. LUCAS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0658286 112 Orange Ave., Ste. A DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged by a two count information filed on October 25, 1994, charging Petitioner with committing the following offenses: Count I - unlawful possession of a controlled substance, to-wit: cocaine, in violation of Section 893.13(6)(a), Florida Statutes; Count II - resisting officer without violence to his person, in violation of Section 843.02 and 943.10, Florida Statutes. (R 1)

The case proceeded to trial on February 16, 1995 before the Honorable Charles J. Tinlin, acting Circuit Court Judge for the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Johns County. (T 42-205) At the close of the State's case, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal on Count I. (T 148) The trial court denied the motion. (T 149) Defense counsel failed to renew his motion for judgment of acquittal after Petitioner testified on his own behalf. After deliberations, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged in Count I and Count II. (T 198)

A sentencing hearing was held on May 3, 1995 before the Honorable Robert K. Mathis. (R 79-86) Petitioner's sentencing guidelines scoresheet total indicated that state prison time was not appropriate. (R 36-37) The trial court, however, imposed a departure sentence of five years incarceration in Count I because of Petitioner's extensive unscored juvenile record. (R 29, 37) In Count II, the trial court sentenced Petitioner to 364 days in the county jail to run concurrent to the sentence imposed in Count I. (R 30, 37, 84)

Petitioner appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, arguing that the trial court erred in denying Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal made at the close of the State's case as to Count I and in sentencing Petitioner to a departure sentence which exceeded the term of incarceration if Petitioner's juvenile record had actually been scored. (R 46)

On March 21, 1997, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner's conviction but reversed for a new sentencing. The Fifth District Court of Appeal in affirming Petitioner's conviction held that Petitioner's claim that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal was not preserved because Petitioner did not renew the motion at the close of all the evidence.

Notice to Invoke this Honorable Court's Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed in the Fifth District Court of Appeal on April 21, 1997.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction, because the opinion of District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, in the instant case expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>State v. Pennington</u>, 534 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1988) and with the decisions of other District Courts of Appeal.

ISSUE

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THE OTHER DISTRICT COURT'S OF APPEAL AND WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>STATE V.</u> <u>PENNINGTON</u>, 534 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1988).

This Honorable Court should accept jurisdiction in the instant case, because the decision expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>State v. Pennington</u>, 534 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1988) and with the decisions of the other District Courts of Appeal. This Court has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(6), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

In the instant case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that Petitioner's argument that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal was not preserved for appeal. Although, Petitioner properly made a motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case, he did not renew his motion for judgment of acquittal at the conclusion of all the evidence. In holding that the denial of Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal was not preserved for appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal relied on this Court's decision in State v. Pennington, 534 So. 2d 393, (Fla. 1988) and Rule 3.380(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

In <u>Pennington</u>, however, this Court rejected the State's argument to adopt the federal "waiver doctrine". Under the "waiver doctrine," if a defendant presents evidence following a denial of his motion for judgment of acquittal, this operates as a waiver of his objection to the denial of his motion. Further, if the defendant fails to renew his motion for judgment of

acquittal at the end of all the evidence, the "waiver doctrine" operates to foreclose the issue of sufficiency of the evidence on appeal. This Court stated that:

The Florida Rule expressly states that a defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the state's case is not waived by the defendant's subsequent introduction of evidence if properly preserved by a motion at the close of all the evidence. Further, the committee notes reflect that "a minority felt that the language should be changed so that a defendant would waive an erroneous denial of his motion for judgment of acquittal by introducing evidence. Florida Rule Criminal Procedure 3.660 Committee Notes (1967). It is clear that our rule is written to prevent application of the federal waiver rule. (Emphasis added) Id. at 395-396.

Furthermore, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reached a contrary result in <u>Williams</u> <u>v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 740 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). In <u>Williams</u>, the defendant moved for a judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case, but failed to renew the motion at the conclusion of all of the evidence or to file a motion for new trial. The Fifth District Court of Appeal held that the issue of the denial of defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal was preserved for appeal. The appellate court, however, was limited in their scope of review to only the evidence presented during the State's case in chief. <u>See also</u>, <u>McGeorge v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 29 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>TMM v. State</u>, 567 So.2d 805 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), held that the failure of the defendant to renew his motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the all the evidence does not prevent the court from reviewing the denial of the motion after the State's case. The Third and First District Courts of Appeal have reached the same conclusion. <u>See, e.g., Everett v. State</u>, 339 So.2d 704 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976); <u>Vazquez</u> <u>v. State</u>, 350 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977); <u>Castillo v. State</u>, 308 So.2d 619 (Fla. 3rd

DCA 1975); Wiggins v. State, 101 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958).

Because the decision of the District Court of Appeal in this case, expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court and with the decisions of the other District Courts of Appeal on the same point of law, this Honorable Court has jurisdiction to review this cause.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons expressed herein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and review the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal herein.