ORIGINAL FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA MAY 14 1997

ANDREW J. MORRIS,

Petitioner,

ν.

Case No. 90,427 5th DCA No. 95-1230

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT AND THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Robert A. Butterworth Attorney General

Steven J. Guardiano Senior Assistant Attorney General FL Bar # 0602396 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

Counsel for Respondent

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to exercise discretionary jurisdiction because the Fifth District's decision in Morris v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D 738 (Fla. 5th DCA Mar. 21, 1997), holding that a motion for a judgment of acquittal must be renewed at the close of all the evidence to preserve the issue for appeal, does not expressly and directly conflict with this Court's decision in State v. Pennington, 534 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1988).

ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION IN MORRIS V. STATE, THAT A MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL MUST BE RENEWED AT THE CLOSE OF ALL THE EVIDENCE TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE FOR APPEAL, DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH STATE V. PENNINGTON, 534 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1988).

The petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to "Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(6), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure." Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction at page 4. This contention is incorrect. Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi) states:

- (2) Discretionary Jurisdiction. The discretionary jurisdiction of the supreme court may be sought to review
- (A) decisions of district courts of appeal that

. . . .

(vi) are certified to be in direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal.

(footnote omitted). Nowhere in its decision does the Fifth District Court of Appeal certify that its decision is in direct conflict with another district court of appeal. Morris v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D 738 (Fla. Mar. 21, 1997) (Appendix A). Thus, it is respectfully submitted that this Court does not have

discretionary jurisdiction to review this case under the rule of appellate procedure cited by the petitioner.

Upon review of the jurisdictional brief, it appears that the petitioner seeks discretionary review with this Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Both the constitutional provision and appellate rule permit discretionary review of a district court of appeal decision that "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law."

Specifically, the petitioner contends that <u>Morris</u> conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>State v. Pennington</u>, 534 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1988) (Appendix B). This contention is incorrect. In <u>Morris</u>, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held:

Morris' claim that the court erred in not granting his motion for judgment of acquittal was not preserved for appeal. Although he properly made the motion at the close of the State's case, he did not renew the motion at the conclusion of his case. Rule 3.380(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides:

A motion for judgment of acquittal is not waived by subsequent introduction of evidence on behalf of the defendant, but after introduction of evidence by the defendant, the motion for judgment of acquittal must be renewed at the close of all the evidence. Such motion must fully

set forth the grounds upon which it is based.

In State v. Pennington, 534 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1988), the supreme court noted that the above rule expressly states that a defendant's motion for a judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case is not waived by the defendant's subsequent introduction evidence if properly preserved by a motion at the close of all the evidence. Therefore, both the rule and Pennington (at least by implication) require that a motion for a judgment of acquittal must be repeated at the close of all the evidence in order to preserve the denial of such motion for review on appeal (italics in original).

Id. In Pennington, this Court, in interpreting Rule 3.380(b), stated that: "The Florida rule expressly states that a defendant's motion for a judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case is not waived by the subsequent introduction if properly preserved by a motion at the close of all the evidence." (emphasis added)

Pennington, 534 So. 2d at 395-396. Thus, it is apparent that no "express and direct conflict" exists with Pennington such that would permit discretionary review. See also Walker v. State, 604

So. 2d 475, 476-477 (Fla. 1992) ("This Court has ruled that a defendant's motion for a judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case is not waived by the defendant's subsequent introduction of evidence if the motion is renewed at the close of all the evidence.") (emphasis added).

In his analysis, the petitioner contends that the Fifth District's decision in Morris approved the Federal "waiver doctrine" which was expressly rejected by this Court in Pennington.

This argument is not correct. The Fifth District's decision did not even involve the federal "waiver doctrine.".

The federal "waiver doctrine" provides that "a defendant, on appeal, is not allowed to challenge the denial of a motion for a judgment of acquittal made at the close of the prosecution's case if any deficiency in the government's evidence is subsequently cured during the defense's case." Pennington, 534 So. 2d at 394-395. Stated in another manner, "Under the 'waiver doctrine,' a defendant's decision to present evidence in his behalf following the denial of his motion for a judgment of acquittal made at the conclusion of the Government's case operates as a waiver of his objection to the denial of the motion." Id. at 395 (quoting from United States v. White, 611 F.2d 531, 536 (5th Cir.), cert denied, 446 U.S. 992, 100 S.Ct. 2978, 64 L.Ed.2d 849 (1980).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal never approved the federal "waiver doctrine" as there is nothing in the Fifth District's decision to suggest that the defendant's testimony cured any defects in the State's case. The Fifth District's ruling, consistent with both Rule 3.380(b) and Pennington, is that any

nonfundamental issue regarding the ruling on a motion for a judgment of acquittal is not preserved for appeal if the defendant fails to renew the motion at the close of all the evidence.

The petitioner also contends that discretionary review should be granted because the Morris decision "expressly and directly" conflicts with prior decisions by the same district court of appeal, citing Williams v. State, 511 So. 2d 740 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) and McGeorge v. State, 386 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). Even if Morris expressly and directly conflicted with the foregoing prior decisions of the Fifth District, this does not provide a jurisdictional basis to permit discretionary review. Review to this Court review is limited to inter-district conflicts, not intra-district conflicts. Intra-district conflicts are resolved by way of an en banc proceeding pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.331.

In any event, there is no conflict, as the Florida Supreme Court's pronouncement in <u>Pennington</u> superseded or overruled the prior appellate court decisions in the Fifth District Court of Appeal as well as the prior decisions of other district courts of appeal cited to in the petitioner's jurisdictional brief.

Finally, the Fifth District's decision in Morris does not "expressly and directly conflict" with the Fourth District's decision of "TMM v. State, 567 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) as there is no such decision or case name listed in that volume of the Southern Reporter, Second Series.

The petitioner appears to be referring to the case of In the Interest of T.M.M., 560 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). However, there is no express and direct conflict with Morris. T.M.M. involved a situation wherein the State failed to present a prima facie case, i.e., that the defendant's conduct did not constitute the crime for which he was convicted. In this type of a situation, the error is fundamental error and, therefore, is reviewable on appeal notwithstanding the failure to renew the motion for a judgment of acquittal. See Hornsby v. State, 680 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); Hundley v. State, 613 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). The foregoing analysis also is supported by the fact that in T.M.M., the First District did not even cite to the Florida Supreme Court's opinion in Pennington.

Alternatively, the respondent points out that <u>T.M.M.</u> is something of an anomaly, having been decided over seven years ago and having relied on earlier case law and statutes that have since been overruled or repealed.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and authority, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to decline jurisdiction in this case.